
Meeting of:  Strategic Place Board ( formerly HWBB)
Date: Thursday, 13th February, 2020
Time: 2.00 pm.
Venue: Committee Room 1, Rochdale Town Hall, The 

Esplanade, Rochdale,OL16 1AB

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Items for Exclusion of Public and Press 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

4  Urgent Items of Business 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

5  Minutes 4 - 5

Members are requested to approve the Minutes of the Meeting of the 
Strategic Place Board held 23rd September 2019.

Public Document Pack



6  Terms of Reference 6 - 12

Proposed terms of reference for the Strategic Place Board

7  Greater Manchester Child Deaths Overview Report 2018/19 13 - 46

Annual Report for the Board’s consideration.

8  Public Sector Reform including Person and Community Centred 
Approaches (PCCA) - Presentation 

Director of Neighbourhoods to present

9  Work and Health 

A presentation and discussion on proposals.

10  Locality Plan 2020 - 2024 47 - 48

Director of Public Health to report

11  Safeguarding Board - Annual Report 2018/2019 

The Annual Safeguarding report to be circulated to Members ahead of 
the meeting

12  Strategic Place Board - Forward Plan 

Board Members to determine a programme for future meetings

Strategic Place Board ( formerly HWBB) Members
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Dr Bodrul Alam
Jon Aspinall Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Ashley Dearnley Dr Chris Duffy
Andrea Fallon Councillor Kieran Heakin
Gail Hopper Kate Jones
Councillor Sara Rowbotham Mark Widdup
Steve Rumbelow Councillor Susan Smith
Councillor Allen Brett Steve Taylor
Sally McIvor
Karen Hurley

Kerry Bertram



For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Peter Thompson
Committees and Constitutional Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
E-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


STRATEGIC PLACE BOARD ( FORMERLY HWBB)

MINUTES OF MEETING
Monday, 23 September 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Sara Rowbotham (Chair); Councillors Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Aspinall, Dearnley and Heakin. Fallon, J. Evans, Liz Windsor-Welsh, G. 
Swarbrick, Jackson, Ruffle, and Smith.

OFFICERS: Sally McIvor (Joint Director for Commissioning), Gail Hopper 
(Director for Children’s Services) A. Threlfall (Public Health Specialist), E. 
Wilson (Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate) John Addison (Senior 
Governance and Committee Officer).

1 APOLOGIES

That apologies from Councillor Sheerin, Dr Duffy, Rumbelow, Molly Brown 
and Julia Heap be noted.

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declaration of interests received.

3 ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS

There were no items of business under this item.

4 MINUTES

RESOLVED

That the Minutes of the meeting held on the 26th July 2019 be agreed as a 
correct record.

5 TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE STRATEGIC PLACE BOARD

The Terms of Reference for the Strategic Place Board were presented to the 
Board for approval by Members. Members were reminded that the terms 
reference had be discussed in the development session to be held at the end 
of the last meeting and I revised version was here for approval. 

RESOLVED 

1) That the Terms of Reference for the Strategic Place Board be approval.

2) The Director for Public Health be authorised to make minor amendment 
to the Strategic Place Board Terms of Reference in relation to its 
membership if required.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



6 LOCALITY PLAN REFRESH AND HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY

The Director for Public Health provided Members with a verbal update on the 
Locality Plan and Health and Wellbeing Strategy for the Borough. The 
presentation informed Members of the work streams that were ongoing and the 
service models being considered.

It was noted that a draft strategy would be available in due course and would be 
provided to the Board and comments would be welcomed.

RESOLVED

That the update on the Locality Plan and Health and Wellbeing Strategy be 
noted.

Page 5



Appendix 1

Strategic Place Board – Terms of Reference

The Strategic Place Board will bring together public services, citizens and businesses, 
utilising the strengths of communities alongside service providers in the shared leadership 
and strategic development of integrated, collaborative and needs driven public services.

1. Accountable to

The Strategic Place Board will be accountable to Full Council in its capacity as a 
Board of the local authority and will be subject to Overview and Scrutiny.

In regards to matters under Health and Wellbeing the Strategic Place Board will 
be subject to scrutiny by the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and for matters under Public Service Reform it will be subject to 
scrutiny by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

2. Accountable for

 Integrated Commissioning Board Sub-Committee 
 Public Service Reform Sub-Group 
 Strategic Place Board Governance Sub-Group (limited time while the 

Strategic Place Board beds in) 

The Strategic Place Board will be responsible for the creation of sub 
groups/committees under its remit, including the terms of reference and the 
Membership of sub groups/committees.

3. Background

The Strategic Place Board is the merging of the Rochdale Health and Wellbeing 
Board and Rochdale Borough Public Service Reform (PSR) Steering Group. The 
aim of merging these groups is to achieve better health, wellbeing and social care 
outcomes for the residents of Rochdale Borough Council, as well as lead and 
oversee the reform of public services within the Borough.

4. Statutory Responsibilities, Role and Purpose

The Strategic Place Board will have two core functions: 1) improve the health and 
wellbeing of the Borough and 2) oversee the reform of public services in the 
Borough.

The Strategic Place Board will provide shared leadership of a strategic approach 
to the health, wellbeing and public service reform of the Borough and its 
communities that reaches across all relevant organisations. In doing so, there will 
be shared ownership of the Board by all its Members and accountability to the 
communities of the Borough

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



The Strategic Place Board will;

1. Foster collaboration and communication across the public service system 
in the Borough.

2. Carry out the statutory duties relating to Health and Wellbeing Board as set 
out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  These are:

 The preparation of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) and 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies (JHWSs), on behalf of the 
local authority and CCG’s;

 The duty to encourage integrated working between health and social 
care commissioners, including providing advice, assistance or other 
support to encourage arrangements under Section 75 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (lead commissioning, pooled budgets and 
integrated provision) in connection with the provision of health and 
social care services;

 Power to encourage close working between commissioners of health 
related services and the Board

 A power to encourage close working between commissioners of 
health related services and commissioners of health and social care 
services;

 Any other functions that may be delegated by the Council under 
Section 196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012

3. Ensure that all available resources to support health improvement and 
people’s quality of life are used efficiently and to their full potential. 

4. Lead an assessment of the health and wellbeing needs of the local 
population and produce a high-level Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

5. Develop a joint health and wellbeing strategy, that provides an overarching 
framework and identifies priorities for action within which commissioning 
plans for the NHS, social care, public health and other health and wellbeing 
related services will be developed. 

6. Shift the focus of services from crisis management to a preventative 
approach at key points in the whole life course of the service. 

7. Challenge all partners to fully deliver their contribution to the Borough’s 
priorities for health and wellbeing. 

8. Lead joint working and ensure coherent and co-ordinated commissioning 
strategies, including those of the NHS Commissioning Board. 

9. Provide public accountability for services that are directly related to the 
health and wellbeing of the local population.

Page 7



10. Ensure all partners fully understand what outcomes the Board are working 
to and use robust performance management structures to measure 
progress and success. 

11. Maintain an oversight of the allocated public health budgets and how these 
are spent.

12. Pull together the commissioning activities of the local NHS services and the 
local authority where this aligns with delivery of the joint health and 
wellbeing strategy, and through integrated commissioning, identify 
assurances from joint commissioning structures are value for money and 
ensure equity of access and outcomes.

13. Identifying and co-ordinating the removal of blockages to the successful 
delivery of Public Service Reform work in the Borough.

14. Create the strategic vison and scope of Public Sector Reform Steering 
Group.

15. Monitoring and managing the factors outside the Steering Group’s control 
that are critical to its success.

16. Scrutinise the ongoing work of PSR work streams in the Borough of 
Rochdale.

17. Coordinating all processes to ensure the successful implementation of PSR.

5. Operating Principles

The Strategic Place Board will have the following operating principles: 
 
Wellbeing Service Reform

 Shared leadership of a strategic 
approach to the health and wellbeing 
of communities that reaches across 
all relevant organisations. 

 A commitment to driving real action 
and change to improve services and 
outcomes. 

 Parity between Board Members in 
terms of their opportunity to 
contribute to the board’s 
deliberations, strategies and 
activities. 

 Shared ownership of the Board by all 
its members (with commitment from 
their nominating organisations) and 
accountability to the communities it 
serves. 

 Openness and transparency in the 
way that the board carries out its 
work. 

 A new relationship between public 
services, citizens, communities and 
businesses that enables shared decision 
making, democratic accountability, co-
production and joint delivery of services.

 An asset-based approach that recognises 
and builds on the strengths of individuals, 
families and our communities.

 Behaviour change in our communities 
that builds independence and supports 
residents to be in control.

 A place-based approach that redefines 
services and places individuals, families, 
communities at the heart. 

 A stronger prioritisation of wellbeing, 
prevention and early intervention

 An evidence-led understanding of risk 
and impact to ensure the right 
intervention at the right time.

Page 8



 Inclusiveness in the way it engages 
with patients, service users and the 
public.

 To reduce health inequalities. 
 To promote prevention and early 

help.

 An approach that supports the 
development of new investment and 
resourcing models, enabling 
collaboration with a wide range of 
organisations.

6. Code of conduct and member responsibilities

All Members of the Strategic Place Board are required to comply with Rochdale 
Borough Council’s Code of Conduct, including submitting a Register of Interests. 

In addition, all Members of the Strategic Place Board will commit to the following 
roles, responsibilities and expectations:

 They make every effort to attend meetings. Substitutes can be sent. 
Failure to attend three consecutive meetings will lead to a review of 
their membership.  

 Members endorse the collaborative model and work to ensure its 
achievement.

 They are prepared for the meetings, and have read papers 
circulated in advance. 

 They will represent the views of the group, organisation, and / or 
partnership that they speak for and they will ensure that Strategic 
Place Board business is reported back to that group, organisation / 
partnership as required. 

 They will be able and willing to make decisions on behalf of the 
body/ organisation/partnership that they speak for; this must also 
apply when substitutes are sent.

 They will take forward any actions that they have agreed to develop, 
and then report back any progress to the group in the timescales 
agreed. 

 Members will adhere to the seven principles of public life.

7. Membership and Membership operation

As the Board will undertake Health and Wellbeing functions, certain members of 
the Board are prescribed.  In the interests of inclusivity and shared ownership, the 
Council has the ability to extend its membership to include representatives who 
can support the work of the Board.  All Members of the Board have equal voting 
rights.  The Membership of the Strategic Place Board shall be X (need to tally this 
once membership is confirmed) voting Members. Before attending the Strategic 
Place Board all new Members must attend training on the role and remit of the 
Board.

Membership must include:

Page 9



 Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Health/Public Health
 Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Children’s Services
 Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Adult Care
 Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Finance
 Leader of the Conservative Group
 Director of Adult Social Services for the local authority
 Director of Children's Services for the local authority 
 Director of Public Health for the local authority
 Chief Officer of the LCO
 A representative of the local Healthwatch for the Borough
 A representative of the Clinical Commissioning Group
 Action Together 
 GMP 
 GM Fire and Rescue Service
 National Probation Service
 DWP
 Further/Higher Education Sector
 RBH

Substitutes

Substitutes from each of the partner organisations will be permitted, however, 
membership should be reviewed if a named Board member not attend for 3 
consecutive meetings.

Attending Strategic Place Board advisors

 Chief Executive Rochdale Borough Council
 Director of Neighbourhoods
 Deputy Chief Officer and Executive Nurse
 Director of Commissioning (DASS) Joint Commissioning
 Rochdale Borough Council Monitoring Officer

8. Quorum

Quorum shall be a third of the voting Membership rounded up. At least one Elected 
Member must be present in order for the meeting to be declared quorate

Where a meeting is inquorate those Members in attendance may meet informally 
but any decisions shall require appropriate ratification at the next quorate meeting 
of the Strategic Place Board in order for decisions to be legal/legally binding.

9. Chair
The Chair will be appointed on an annual basis at the first meeting of the municipal 
year and will be elected from the Strategic Place Board voting Membership. If the 
Chair or Vice-Chair are not in attendance then a Chair will be appointed from the 
floor of those voting Members present.

Page 10



The Chair will ensure: 
 Meetings are conducted in a fair and transparent business-like fashion. 
 Decisions are clear and organisations are accountable. 
 Any actions required have a clearly identified lead person to take forward 

the action, and timescale. 
 That a shared culture and language, common purpose and trust are 

endorsed through a collaborative leadership style. 

10.Vice-Chair

The Vice-Chair will be appointed on an annual basis at the first meeting of the 
municipal year and will elected from the Strategic Place Board voting Membership.

The Vice-Chair will be a Member of the Public Service Reform Steering Group on 
behalf of the Strategic Place Board.

11.Voting

Decision making will be taken were possible on a collaborative basis, but each 
Member of the Board will have one vote. The Chair at their discretion can chose 
to withhold their vote, but in the event of a split decision will have the casting vote.

12.Meetings of the Strategic Place Board

Formal meetings of the Strategic Place Board will be held in public and shall be 
held on a bi-monthly basis.  If the business to be considered involves confidential 
or exempt business, the Strategic Place Board can resolve to exclude the public 
during consideration of that business. Meetings were possible will be held on the 
first Thursday of the relevant month at 2pm.

13.Strategic Place Board Agendas and work programme

There will be standing items on each agenda these are: 

 Declarations of Interest 
 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 Updates from each of the subgroups of the Strategic Place Board - 

Integrated commissioning Board, Sector Reform Steering Group and 
Strategic Place Board Governance Sub-Group if appropriate and if they 
have met since the last meeting of Strategic Place Board.

 Greater Manchester Public Sector Reform - Update

14.Co-ordination and Servicing of meetings
The Strategic Place Board will be co-ordinated and serviced by a Senior Member 
of Governance Services from Rochdale Borough Council, and will: 

 Produce a schedule of meetings for the year and publish it. 
 Administer and maintain the Strategic Place Board work plan/forward 

plan of the Board.

Page 11



 Arrange suitable venues for meetings (Normally Number one Riverside 
Rochdale). 

 Prepare the agenda, collate reports and produce minutes of each Board 
meeting. 

 Undertake any executive / follow up action arising from meetings.
 Offer the Chair/Strategic Place Board and Chief Officers constitutional, 

procedural and general governance advice as and when required.

15.Confidentiality

All documents will be shared and made public unless there is a specific legal or 
confidential reason not to do so.  In such cases Members will respect confidentiality 
in relation to any sensitive information shared in support of the business agenda.

16.Governance and Accountability

The Board will be a formerly constituted Committee of the Council under section 
102 of the Local Government Act 1972. However the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 will 
apply to Strategic Place Board. The regulations relating to Health and Wellbeing 
Boards make provision for the dis-application and modification of certain 
enactments relating to local authority committees appointed under section 102 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, insofar as they are applicable to a Health and 
Wellbeing Board established under section 194 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2012. The regulations mean that Health and Wellbeing Boards are free to establish 
sub-committees and delegate functions to them, non-elected members of a health 
and wellbeing board can vote alongside nominated elected representatives and 
political proportionality requirements are left to local determination.

Page 12



1

Report to Strategic Place Board

Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

February 2020
Public Health and Wellbeing
Wendy Meston
Public

Title of the report: Greater Manchester Child Deaths Overview Report 2018/19

Date: February 2020

Author: Wendy Meston

Agenda Item

Executive Summary

Report purpose Decision Discussion Information

Report summary
This report is presented to the Strategic Place Board as part of their Health and 
Wellbeing Bard functions. The Board are asked to note the Child Death Overview 
Panel Statutory Responsibility and the changes to governance and the transfer of 
accountability for the Child Death Review Panel reports moving in line with 
national guidance from Safeguarding Boards to Health and Wellbeing Boards in 
Bury, Rochdale and Oldham.

The most recent Annual Report (attached) takes data from the four CDOP panels 
that cover Greater Manchester  to make observations about causes and 
modifiable factors in order to inform action to promote child safety and reduce 
child deaths in GM and the Board are asked to note the report and consider the 
recommendations

Key actions for the 
Board to address

To consider the report and recommendations as part of the functions of a Health 
Wellbeing Board

Engagement taken 
place

Sector CDOP members and GM CDOP network members

Assurance and 
tracking process

Through the Strategic Place Board and via CDOP members and Sfaeguaridng 
processes

1.0 Introduction/ Background

The Bury, Rochdale and Oldham (BRO) CDOP has been set up by Child Death Review (CDR) Partners 
across the sector. The national CDOP process was designed to review the deaths of children under the 
requirements of the Children Act, 2004 and Working Together to Safeguard Children, 2018.  The tripartite 
approach covers a population of 641,846. The sector operates within a Greater Manchester (GM) 
framework for CDOP which includes the production of a GM CDOP Report and development of agreed 
standards and processes across GM.

√
√

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



2

The purpose of the BRO CDOP is to undertake a review of all child deaths up to the age of 18 years, 
normally resident in Bury, Oldham and Rochdale/HMR, irrespective of the place of their death. The BRO 
CDOP will adhere to the statutory guidance: Child Death Review Statutory and Operational Guidance 
(England) 2018: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england

2.0Progress to date
The three Councils and the three CCGs have agreed operational arrangements with NHS Trusts and the 
Police based on the existing model that has worked well for some years across Greater Manchester and 
processes are in place to review and report all child deaths in line with national guidance.

3.0Recommendations

 That the Board note their responsibility and schedule future Annual reports to be 
presented to the Board

 That the Board note that arrangements have been put into place to discharge our 
statutory responsibilities and that this will be subject to further development in 2019/20.

 That the Board agree to ensure that plans are in place to address potential modifiable 
factors including smoking in pregnancy, obesity, drug and alcohol misuse, domestic 
abuse, safe sleeping, and consanguinity.

 That the Board ensure that suicide prevention plans are in place in line with the Greater 
Manchester Suicide Prevention Strategy

 That the Board ensure that good quality services are in place to support families and 
others affected following the death of a child or young person

4.0 Next Steps
CDOPs continue to operate in line with national guidance and report annually to the Strategic Place 
Board 

5.0Finacial/ Legal implications

The administrative functions are undertaken by Rochdale Council and costs are funded by all three 
localities. .

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/child-death-review-statutory-and-operational-guidance-england


  

 

Annual Report of 
Child Deaths in 
Greater Manchester, 
2018/19 

 

 

 

Report updated by Leifa Jennings, based on a report by Louise Harding, with data analysis and 
editing by Jacqui Dorman (Tameside MBC) 
 
October 2019 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



2 

Contents 
1.0 Executive Summary ........................................................................................................... 4 

1.1 Key Findings for Greater Manchester ................................................................................. 4 

2.0 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 5 

3.0 Background ........................................................................................................................ 5 

4.0 Key findings for the UK ....................................................................................................... 6 

5.0 Overview of Greater Manchester population aged under 18 years .......................................... 7 

5.1 Ethnicity ............................................................................................................................. 7 

5.2 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) .................................................................................... 8 

6.0 2018/19 Reviews by CDOPs ................................................................................................... 9 

6.1 Closed Cases 2018/19 ....................................................................................................... 9 

6.2 Duration of Reviews ......................................................................................................... 10 

6.3 Notified Deaths 2018/19 ................................................................................................... 11 

6.4 In-Year Closed Cases (by CDOP) .................................................................................... 12 

6.5 Causes of death ............................................................................................................... 13 

6.5.1 Trend Data .................................................................................................................... 14 

6.5.2 Cause of Death by Ethnicity .......................................................................................... 15 

6.6 Location of death ............................................................................................................. 15 

6.7 Expected verses unexpected deaths ................................................................................ 15 

6.8 Modifiable risk factors ...................................................................................................... 16 

6.9 Neonatal and infant deaths ................................................................................................... 18 

6.9.1 Infant Mortality Rates .................................................................................................... 18 

6.9.2 Overview of CDOP deaths by age ................................................................................. 19 

6.9.3 Neonatal and Infant Categorisation of Death (0 – 364 days of life) ................................ 19 

6.9.3 Gestation ...................................................................................................................... 20 

6.9.4 Low birth weight ............................................................................................................ 20 

6.10 Socio Demographic Characteristics .................................................................................... 21 

6.10.1 Age and Gender .......................................................................................................... 21 

6.10.2 Ethnicity ...................................................................................................................... 22 

6.10.3 Deprivation .................................................................................................................. 24 

6.11 Smoking status of the mother ......................................................................................... 25 

6.12 Raised Body Mass Index ............................................................................................... 25 

6.13 Other factors ....................................................................................................................... 26 

6.13.1 Consanguinity ............................................................................................................. 26 

6.13.2 Parental Alcohol/Drug Use .......................................................................................... 26 

6.13.3 Co-sleeping ................................................................................................................. 26 

6.13.4 Domestic Violence ...................................................................................................... 26 

Page 16



3 

6.13.5 Access to Appropriate Healthcare ............................................................................... 27 

7.0 Discussion and Conclusions ................................................................................................. 27 

8.0 Recommendations ................................................................................................................ 28 

Appendix 1: Summary of Gender, Ethnicity and Deprivation Data for 2018/19 ............................ 30 

Appendix 2: Population and number of cases closed by CDOP panel (2012/2013 - 2018/19) ..... 31 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 17



4 

1.0 Executive Summary 
 

This is the seventh annual report which reviews the data taken from all four Child Death Overview 

Panels (CDOPs) across Greater Manchester (GM).  This report includes data from closed cases 

from 1st April 2018 to 31st March 2019.  

 

All under-18 child deaths are referred to a CDOP, and the findings are recorded and used to inform 

local strategic planning on preventing child death, safeguarding children and improving outcomes.  

The CDOP does not determine the cause of death; that is carried out by either the medical team or 

the coroner depending on the circumstances of the death.  The CDOP’s responsibility is to consider 

all the information around the child’s death, identify potentially modifiable factors, and lessons that 

can be learned.  The outcome of all cases closed by the CDOPs is collected nationally by the 

Department for Education to build up a picture of child deaths in the UK. 

 

1.1 Key Findings for Greater Manchester 

There were a total of 204 closed cases in 2018/19 with 217 notified deaths. The number of closed 

cases is less than in 2017/18 (274) as is the number of deaths notified (250). The time taken from 

notification of death to closure was between 31 and 2,328 days, with an average across GM of 297 

days.   

The large majority of child deaths in GM occurred in the first year of life; 42% of closed cases 

occurred in the first 28 days and 60% in the first 12 months.  This is a reduction from last year, when 

deaths in infants aged under 1 year accounted for 65% of closed cases, but the main causes of 

these deaths remain the same.  Most were due to events around the time of birth (perinatal or 

neonatal events), the next most common issue was genetic or congenital conditions. 

The older age groups: 1-4, 5-9, 10-14 and 15-17 accounted for 11%, 8%, 10% and 11% of deaths 

respectively. This does indicate a slightly wider spread of deaths throughout the age groups than in 

previous years, but the absolute numbers are too small to draw statistical conclusions.  Out of all the 

closed cases in 2018/19, 162 (79%) were classed as ‘medical’ causes, i.e. acute medical, 

chromosomal, chronic medical, malignancy, perinatal / neonatal event or infection.  Across GM, 82% 

of neonatal deaths were expected, falling to 45% of infants aged 28-364 days.  The pattern is more 

mixed across the older age groups, but again this could be due to small numbers.  However, in 

children aged 10-14 years, only around 1 in 5 deaths were expected which reflects a greater number 

of deaths from unexpected causes, such as health-related causes of death and trauma in this age 

group. This low percentage also reflects the good health of children in this age group, and that those 

with serious underlying conditions were likely to have died prior to the age of 10.  

The ratio of male to female deaths was similar to previous years (60% male, 40% female). However, 

in contrast to last year, the gender difference is more evident in some older age brackets, rather than 

infancy. Whilst deaths due to trauma and other external causes usually have a higher ratio of male 

to female deaths, in 2018/19 these were roughly equal, but numbers were small in this category (7 

males and 6 females). 

Modifiable factors were identified in 79 closed cases (39%) across GM, which is similar to the 

findings from 2017/18 (40%).  Smoking was still the most common modifiable factor (24 cases), 

followed by obesity (19). Access to health care or poor care management was the third largest 

modifiable factor (11) followed by substance misuse (10). 

Page 18



5 

In 199 of the 204 closed cases in 2018/19 the ethnicity of the child was recorded.  Of these, 57% 

were from a white background, which is below the national rate of 63%.  Across GM there was a rate 

of 4.77 deaths per 10,000 in the 0-17 years BME population compared to 2.50 per 10,000 0-17 years 

among the white population.  This marked difference represents a health inequality between the two 

groups. 

Thirty-seven percent of all children under 18 years old across Greater Manchester are within the 

most deprived quintile. In 2018/19, 62% of deaths occurred in this group, which is similar to 2017/18 

(61%). Eighty-two percent of all GM child deaths occurred within the two most deprived quintiles. 

This remains a significant health inequality.  

 

2.0 Introduction 
 

This is the 7th Annual Report of Child Deaths in Greater Manchester (GM). The current processes 

for reviewing child deaths were established in 2008 and have continued to develop year on year.  

This report focuses on the cases that were closed in GM for the year 2018/19 and will include data 

on the demographics of the cases, duration of reviews, causes of death, and potentially modifiable 

risk factors.  These may vary across local authorities and CDOP areas reflecting the different make-

up of populations across GM. 

The aim of this report is take data from the four CDOP panels that cover GM and to make 

observations about causes of death and potentially modifiable risk factors. This would allow an 

evidence based discussion about how to promote child safety and reduce child deaths in GM. 

 

3.0 Background 
 

In 2004, the Children Act required each local authority to establish a Local Safeguarding Children 

Board (LCSB) to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in that area.  Since 2008 the LCSBs 

have the statutory responsibility for the child death review process and in 2015 the government 

published Working Together to Safeguard Children 20151 which built on previous reports detailing 

how each LSCB must ensure that the CDOP carries out a review of the death of any child normally 

resident in that area.  The purpose of the child death review processes is to gather information on 

how and why children die, look at potentially modifiable factors and try to put in place interventions 

to reduce future deaths. 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           

1 http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs178/en/ 

Page 19



6 

In GM there are four CDOPs set up to cover the LSCBs of the ten local authorities: 

 Bolton, Salford & Wigan 

 Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 

 Bury, Rochdale & Oldham 

 Manchester 

As the number of deaths for each area are small, combining the data from the four CDOPs allows 

for more detailed analysis as well as comparison between different areas of GM.  There is well 

established co-operation between the local authorities in GM and this report is an opportunity to 

consider how GM as a whole can improve child health and child safeguarding and work together to 

reduce avoidable child deaths. 

As this is the 7th year of the report, there is some limited trend data available.  

 

4.0 Key findings for the UK 
 

Infant, child and adolescent death rates in the UK have declined substantially since the 1980s with 

a 64% reduction since 1984 in England and Wales2. The infant mortality rate in England and Wales 

was lowest in 2014 (3.6 deaths per 1,000 live births), but increased to 3.9 per 1,000 live births in 

20172.  Many of the causes and determinants of childhood deaths are potentially preventable3.  

Some areas of improvement are listed below.4  

➢ The overall UK childhood mortality rate is higher than in some other Northern European 

countries.  

➢ The key areas where the UK rates appear to be relatively high are infant deaths and deaths 

among children and young people who have chronic conditions. 

➢ Injuries are the most frequent cause of death in children after their first year of life, and 

although unintentional injuries are the most common, the failure to reduce intentional injury 

and deaths by suicide among young people recently is also a pressing concern. 

➢ Several reports have shown that health services do not always deliver optimal care for 

children and young people and lives may be lost as a result. 

➢ There are marked social inequalities in death rates. 

                                                           

2 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/childhoodinfa
ntandperinatalmortalityinenglandandwales/2017 
3 http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs178/en/ 
4 Wolfe I, MacFarlane A, Donkin A, Marmot M, Viner R. Why children die: death in infants, children, and young people 
in the UK - Part A. London : RCPCH, NCB, BACAPH, May 2014. 

Page 20



7 

 

5.0 Overview of Greater Manchester population aged under 18 years 
 

Table 1, below, demonstrates the population of children aged under 18 years in each GM borough.  

 

 

                                

Source: ONS 2017 

 

5.1 Ethnicity 

 

We can use ethnicity estimates from the 2011 census and apply these to the 2019 mid-year 

population estimates for each local authority to tell us the breakdown of the  under 18 population by 

ethnicity. This shows that nine of the local authorities in GM (all except Wigan) have a higher 

proportion of the population that identify as BME and lower proportion of the population that identify 

as White British than the North West average. Manchester has the highest percentage BME 

population and the lowest percentage White British population (see table 2, overleaf).  

CDOP
Population 

Size

Bolton, Salford & Wigan 192,624

Bolton 67,670

Salford 56,566

Wigan 68,388

Stockport, Tameside & 

Trafford
169,451

Stockport 63,141

Tameside 50,223

Trafford 56,087

Bury, Rochdale & Oldham 155,247

Bury 43,142

Oldham 59,416

Rochdale 59,416

Manchester 121,962

Greater Manchester 646,011

Table 1: Number of children aged under

18 years in each area of GM and its

overseeing CDOP 

(ONS Data 2018)

Page 21



8 

 

Source: ONS 2019 

 

5.2 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)  

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) data has not been updated recently, so the scores from 2015 

are still currently used.  For GM, 6 out of the 10 local authorities have higher IMD scores than the 

North West average, i.e. are more deprived than the average.  These local authorities also have a 

higher proportion of their population living in the most deprived areas of the country than the North 

West average (see table 3).  On this measure Manchester ranks as the most deprived local authority 

in GM with Trafford the least, with 41% and 3% of their respective populations living in the most 

deprived areas of the country.  

 

Source: Local Government and Communities 

Area

Bolton 46,895 69.3% 20,775 30.7%

Bury 34,600 80.2% 8,542 19.8%

Manchester 55,249 45.3% 66,713 54.7%

Oldham 36,125 60.8% 23,291 39.2%

Rochdale 41,056 69.1% 18,360 30.9%

Salford 44,574 78.8% 11,992 21.2%

Stockport 52,975 83.9% 10,166 16.1%

Tameside 41,836 83.3% 8,387 16.7%

Trafford 40,551 72.3% 15,536 27.7%

Wigan 65,447 95.7% 2,941 4.3%

Greater Manchester 459,309 71.1% 186,702 28.9%

North-West 1,309,303 84.3% 243,844 15.7%

Table 2: Estimated population by ethnic group for GM local authorities, mid-2018 

population data applying 2011 census ethnicity breakdown (source ONS)

White British BME

Current Code
Former 

Code
Area

Average IMD 

2010 score

Average 

IMD 2015 

score

% of 

people in 

an area in 

most 

deprived 

10%

E08000003 00BN Manchester 41.13 40.51 41%

E08000006 00BR Salford 34.74 32.95 29%

E08000005 00BQ Rochdale 33.85 33.68 28%

E08000004 00BP Oldham 30.41 30.29 23%

E08000001 00BL Bolton 30.46 28.42 20%

E08000008 00BT Tameside 29.62 29.38 17%

E08000010 00BW Wigan 26.01 24.85 14%

E08000002 00BM Bury 22.23 21.76 10%

E08000007 00BS Stockport 18.88 19.1 9%

E08000009 00BU Trafford 17.05 15.38 3%

Table 3: Average IMD 2015 score and percentage in the most deprived 10% for GM local 

authorities (source ONS)

Page 22



9 

 

6.0 2018/19 Reviews by CDOPs 

6.1 Closed Cases 2018/19 

The four CDOPs in GM completed reviews of 204 child deaths between 1st April 2018 and 31st March 

2019. Table 4 below shows the breakdown across GM by local authority and CDOP area.  

Bolton, Salford & Wigan CDOP closed the most cases (64) whilst Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 

CDOP closed the fewest, with 40 closed cases.  Looking at individual local authorities (LAs), 

Manchester closed the most cases (47) with Trafford the fewest (10).  The number of closed cases 

in each area is not the same as the number of deaths that occurred in 2018/19.  Of the 2018/19 

cases closed, a number of these deaths will have occurred in previous years and it is likely that these 

were subject to investigation (such as criminal proceedings, or serious case review) which can delay 

the closure of the case by the CDOP significantly.  Some of the deaths notified in 2018/19 will not 

be closed within that year, therefore the rate of closed cases for 2018/19 has not been calculated as 

they cannot be interpreted without more information. 

Data from Public Health England’s (PHE) child health profiles show a small decline in child mortality 

for GM since 2010.  However there is not a clear trend for the whole of GM, with some areas showing 

a levelling off or an increase.  Given the small numbers involved it is impossible to tell whether this 

is random variation, different data collection methods in different areas or a real effect.  Longer term 

monitoring of the data is needed to establish whether there is an underlying trend. 

 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 

 

LA
Total Deaths 

Closed

Percentage 

of overall 

GM deaths 

(cases 

closed)

Closed 

cases 

per  

10,000 

populatio

Bolton 33 16% 4.88

Bury 12 6% 2.78

Manchester 47 23% 3.85

Oldham 14 7% 2.36

Rochdale 27 13% 5.12

Salford 16 8% 2.83

Stockport 17 8% 2.69

Tameside 10 5% 1.99

Trafford 13 6% 2.32

Wigan 15 7% 2.19

Greater Manchester 204 100% 3.19

Bolton, Salford, Wigan 64 31% 3.32

Bury, Oldham & Rochdale 53 26% 3.41

Manchester 47 23% 3.85

Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 40 20% 2.36

Table 4: Number and percentage of deaths (cases closed) across 

GM 2018/19

Page 23



10 

6.2 Duration of Reviews 

The duration of a review is the length of time it takes from the date of notification of death until the 

review is closed and it is recorded as the number of days.  Complex cases that involve agencies 

such as the Coroner or the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) will take much longer to close as a 

CDOP will not review these cases until the relevant authorities have completed their investigations, 

such as a Serious Case Review (SCR).  In these cases it can potentially take years for a case to be 

closed.  There are other factors which can lead to variation in the length of time that different CDOP 

areas take to review cases; the amount of information that each CDOP requires before opening a 

review, the speed with which other local agencies notify the CDOP of the death and the time that it 

takes to gather all the of the relevant information from the external agencies involved. 

During 2018/19 Bolton, Salford and Wigan CDOP closed the most cases (64).  The longest duration 

of review was 2,328 days, with the shortest lasting 31 days.  The average duration of review for 

2018/19 was 297 days across GM. 

 

Chart 1: Mean number of days to close a review (from date of death) by Local Authority 

(2018/19) 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 

 

The different CDOP area is not the only factor that can affect the length of time a review takes.  

Nationally, it is recognised that cases with potentially modifiable factors, on average, take longer 

than those without5 probably because these tend to be more complex cases that can require further 

investigation.   

The cause of death can also effect the duration of the review, so a death involving trauma and other 

external factors is likely to require more extensive investigation and data collection than a death due 

to a chronic medical condition which may have been expected. 

In 2018/19 the longest average duration of reviews was for Deaths by Suicide or Deliberate Self-

harm (248 days), and then Chronic Medical Condition (238 days).  

The shortest average duration of review was seen for deaths due to Infections (192 days), and then 

deaths due to Acute Medical or Surgical Conditions (203 days).  This could reflect the fact that deaths 

in these categories are less likely to involve external agencies, and due to the nature of the deaths, 

Page 24



11 

death certificates may be able to be completed and post-mortem examinations avoided. However, 

again the absolute numbers are small.  All the data on average duration of review by category is 

summarised in Table 5 below. Categories which include less than 5 cases, and the next smallest 

category, have been obscured with an asterisk (*).  

 

Table 5: Reviews completed in 2018/19 by duration of review and by category 

Category Closed 
cases 

Average Minimum 
days 

Maximum 
days 

a. Deliberately 
inflicted injury, 

abuse or neglect 

* 223 0 2328 

b. Suicide or 
deliberate self-harm 

* 248 0 685 

c. Trauma and other 
external factors 

13 (6%) 214 0 798 

d. Malignancy 16 (8%) 205 0 452 

e. Acute medical or 
surgical condition 

14 (7%) 203 0 917 

f. Chronic medical 
condition 

8 (4%) 238 0 738 

g. Chromosomal, 
genetic and 
congenital 
anomalies 

41 (20%) 207 0 562 

h. Perinatal / neonatal 
event 

66 (32%) 218 0 1784 

i. Infection 17 (8%) 192 0 819 

j. Sudden 
unexpected, 

unexplained death 

20 (9%) 208 0 804 

 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19  

 

6.3 Notified Deaths 2018/19 

 

The number of notified deaths across GM decreased in 2018/19 to 217 (from 250 in 2017/18), with 

Manchester having the highest proportion of these (26%) and Bury having the lowest (6%).  Given 

the wide variation in population size for local authorities across GM it is necessary to adjust these 

figures to a rate before interpreting them.  The rates of child death notifications per 10,000 of the 

under 18 year old population have been calculated to allow for meaningful comparison across GM. 

Page 25



12 

In 2018/19 Manchester had both the highest crude number of notified deaths and the highest rate at 

4.59 deaths per 10,000 <18 population.  The next highest rates were seen in Oldham and Tameside 

with 3.53 and 3.38 deaths per 10,000 under 18 year old population respectively.  Trafford had the 

lowest rate of notified deaths in GM for the second year in a row (2.67 deaths per 10,000 <18 

population).  It is hard to draw conclusions for the variation in child death rates across GM; it is 

notable that Manchester is the most deprived local authority in GM and Trafford the least, but the 

absolute numbers are sufficiently small that any variations could be due to chance. 

 

 
 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 

 

6.4 In-Year Closed Cases (by CDOP) 

As previously discussed above, not all cases will be closed in the same year that the death was 

notified. In GM in 2018/19, 34% of cases were closed in the same year they were notified. 

There are also geographical variations between the CDOP areas, in 2018/19 Bolton, Wigan and 

Salford closed the highest proportion of cases in year (45%) compared to Stockport, Tameside and 

Trafford which only closed 10% in year.  

There is not a clear explanation for these rates of variation, it could be due to the number of cases 

subject to investigation, differences in how data is recorded in different areas over time, random 

variation or it might simply reflect how the complexity of the cases reported varies over time and 

place. 

LA

Total 

Deaths 

Notified 

(number)

Percentage 

of overall 

GM deaths

Population 0-

17 yrs

Notified 

cases per  

10,000 

population

Bolton 22 10% 67,670 3.25

Bury 14 6% 43,142 3.25

Manchester 56 26% 121,962 4.59

Oldham 21 10% 59,416 3.53

Rochdale 17 8% 52,689 3.23

Salford 18 8% 56,566 3.18

Stockport 17 8% 63,141 2.69

Tameside 17 8% 50,223 3.38

Trafford 15 7% 56,087 2.67

Wigan 20 9% 68,388 2.92

Greater Manchester 217 639,284 3.39

Bolton, Salford, Wigan 60 28% 192,624 3.11

Bury, Oldham & Rochdale 52 24% 155,247 3.35

Manchester 56 26% 121,962 4.59

Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 49 23% 169,451 2.89

Table 6: Number, percentage and rate per 10,000 of notified deaths across GM, 

2018/19

Page 26



13 

6.5 Causes of death 

There are ten nationally defined categories that a CDOP can use when reviewing a death and 

each case must be assigned to one of these categories. It is a hierarchical list, so if more than one 

category could reasonably be applied, the highest up on the list should be given. 

 

1. Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect 

2. Suicide or deliberate self-harm 

3. Trauma and other external factors 

4. Malignancy 

5. Acute medical or surgical conditions 

6. Chronic medical condition 

7. Chromosomal genetic and congenital anomalies 

8. Perinatal/neonatal event 

9. Infection 

10. Sudden unexpected, unexplained death 

 

Having nationally defined categories and standards makes it possible to compare CDOP data from 

across the country. The chairs and managers of the four GM CDOPs regularly discuss a small 

number of cases in order to ensure that all of the panels are applying the standards in a consistent 

way.  

The majority of the 204 cases closed in GM in 2018/19, occurred in early life and resulted from 

events around the time of birth (perinatal/neonatal event) or from conditions which pre-date birth 

such as genetic and congenital anomalies.  This is consistent with the previous year’s findings. 

 

Page 27



  

6.5.1 Trend Data 

In 2018/19, the greatest proportion of deaths occurred due to a perinatal/neonatal event (category 8) followed by chromosomal genetic and congenital 

anomalies (category 7).   

The number of deaths falling into other individual categories are very small, meaning that there is too much variation from year to year to establish clear 

trends. The table below demonstrates trends in the category of death from 2013/2013 to 208/2019. Categories with small numbers (between 1 and 5) 

have been obscured with an asterisk (*). Where only one category has a count of between 1 and 5, the next smallest category during that year has also 

been obscured.  

 

Table 7: Category of death by number and percentage for 2012/13, 2013/14, 2014/15, 2016/17, 2017/18, 2018/19 

Form C Category 2012/2013 2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017 2017/18 2018/19 

a.    Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or 

neglect 
* * * * * * 0 0% 0 0% * * * * 

b.    Suicide or deliberate self-harm 11 4% * * * * 7 29% 6 3% * * * * 

c.    Trauma and other external factors * * 10 5% 14 5% 15 63% 16 7% 15 5% 13 6% 

d.    Malignancy 12 4% 20 9% 18 7% 15 63% 15 6% 20 7% 16 8% 

e.    Acute medical or surgical condition 16 6% 20 9% * * 12 50% 12 5% 11 4% 14 7% 

f.    Chronic medical condition 11 4% 12 6% 10 4% 11 46% 11 5% 16 6% 8 4% 

g.   Chromosomal, genetic and congenital 

anomalies 
70 26% 50 23% 68 26% 56 24% 56 24% 67 24% 41 20% 

h.    Perinatal/neonatal event 97 37% 81 38% 97 37% 78 33% 78 33% 102 37% 66 32% 

i.    Infection 18 7% * * 12 5% 18 75% 18 8% 12 4% 17 8% 

j.  Sudden unexpected, unexplained death 20 7% 10 5% 19 7% 24 100% 24 10% 19 7% 20 9% 

P
age 28



  

6.5.2 Cause of Death by Ethnicity 

All closed cases in GM should have data recorded on their ethnicity.  This is classed as either White 

British or Black and Minority Ethnic (BME).  In GM as a whole, for the under 18 year old population, 

75% identify as White British and 25% as BME5.  

The small numbers demonstrated in most of the categories prevent meaningful analysis, however, 

BME groups are over represented in both perinatal / neonatal events and chromosomal / genetic / 

congenital conditions, with 48% and 51% of deaths in these categories despite having only 25% of 

the population.  The BME data is not further subdivided into different populations so it is not possible 

to tell if particular communities are more affected by these issues.  However, consanguineous 

marriages are known to increase the risk of congenital abnormalities7, so it may follow that 

communities where consanguineous relationships are more likely to take place may suffer a 

disproportionate burden of these cases.  The increased risk of perinatal / neonatal events and 

chromosomal / genetic / congenital conditions does represent a clear health inequality for the BME 

population in GM. 

 

6.6 Location of death  

For the cases closed in 2018/19, 71% (145) occurred in hospital, this in part will reflect the high 

proportion of deaths from medical causes. The second most common location of death was the 

home (20% of cases (41)). There is some variation between local authorities across GM in terms of 

the proportion of deaths occurring in the home) but the absolute numbers are very small. In the case 

of deaths in the home, these end to represent either sudden deaths or those in children on an end 

of life pathway where families choose for their child to die at home.   

 

6.7 Expected verses unexpected deaths 

Each CDOP will classify cases as either an expected or unexpected death.  For 2018/19, 58% of 

cases were classified as expected, This is in line with the last 5 years, where the overall proportion 

of deaths categorised as ‘expected’ has remained stable (60-69%).   

The proportion of deaths which are expected or unexpected varies across the age bands, with more 

expected deaths occurring within the neonatal period. This reflects the fact that deaths in the first 

year of life are often due to the complications of prematurity or from congenital conditions, whereas 

older children are more likely to be accidental or trauma related and therefore tend to be unexpected. 

However, in 2018/19 (similar to the year before), there was also a high proportion of expected deaths 

in the 1-4 year and 5-9 year age categories. It has been suggested that some improvements have 

been made in medical and social care of children with known life-limiting conditions, meaning more 

children may survive infancy and live longer. This may increase the overall population of children 

with these conditions, meaning numbers of deaths could stay the same but rates of death in that 

population may reduce. It may also lead to a change in the age breakdown of deaths of children with 

life limiting conditions.  

 

                                                           

5 Source: ONS 2015 mid-year estimate and 2011 Census data 

Page 29



16 

Chart 2: Percentage child deaths expected and unexpected by age group 2018/19 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 

 

6.8 Potentially modifiable risk factors 

In reviewing the death of each child, the CDOP considers factors which are potentially modifiable in 

a number of different domains (the child, the family and environment, parenting capacity, and service 

provision). Once identified, the CDOP can consider what action could be taken locally and what 

action could be taken at a regional or national level to prevent future deaths.  The guidance defines 

potentially preventable child deaths as those in which modifiable factors may have contributed to the 

death.  In line with the Department for Education, the CDOP categorises each case under one of the 

following: 

 
1. Modifiable factors identified 

The panel have identified one or more factors, in any domain, which may have contributed 

to the death of the child and which, by means of locally or nationally achievable interventions, 

could be modified to reduce the risk of future child deaths 

2. No Modifiable factors identified 

The panel have not identified any potentially modifiable factors in relation to this death 

3. Inadequate information upon which to make a judgement  

NB this category should be used very rarely. 

 

Nationally, the percentage of reviews which were closed and identified as having modifiable risk 

factors was 27%6 in the year ending March 2017 (the most recently published data), which is an 

increase from 24% in 2014/15. 

 

                                                           

6 4. Department of Education. Child Death Reviews – Year ending March 2017. London : s.n., 2017 

Page 30



17 

The CDOP analyses any relevant environmental, external, medical or personal factors that may 

have contributed to the child’s death under the following headings. 

0 - Information not available 

1 - No factors identified or factors identified but are unlikely to have contributed to the death 

2 - Factors identified that may have contributed to vulnerability, ill-health or death 

3 - Factors identified that provide a complete and sufficient explanation for the death (This 
category will no longer exist in the new analysis forms).  

 

Of the 204 cases closed across GM in 2018/19, there were modifiable factors identified in 79 deaths 

(39%), which is similar to the findings from 2017/18 (40%).  There were approximately 89 different 

issues related to the 79 cases. Smoking was still the largest potentially modifiable factor (24 cases), 

followed by obesity (19). Access to health care or poor care management was the 3rd largest 

modifiable factor (11) followed by substance misuse (10). 

Table 10, shows the proportion and number of closed cases in each CDOP in which modifiable 

factors were identified. In all CDOP areas apart from Bolton, Salford and Wigan, the proportion of 

cases with modifiable factors decreased slightly in 2018/19, which differs to the pattern seen last 

year where there was a slight increase in all areas. These statistics have to be interpreted with 

caution due to the small numbers involved.   

There is an element of subjectivity in deciding whether modifiable factors are present or not which 

could explain some of the variation between the four CDOP areas.  It is also possible that areas 

could change their approach over time.  The variability seen from year to year in the different areas 

does not indicate a consistent trend, but the annual data reflects cases closed in that year, this will 

include deaths occurring over a number of years which could mask any change in approach over 

time.   

Table 8: Percentage and number of child deaths in each CDOP area in which modifiable 

factors were felt to be present 

CDOP 

Area 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Bolton, 

Salford and 

Wigan 

39% (34) 28% (13) 26% (17) 38% (21) 34% (23) 35% (29) 44% (28) 

Bury, 

Oldham and 

Rochdale 

21% (15) 30% (17) 25% (20) 22% (16) 41% (21) 46% (33) 40% (21) 

Manchester 29% (16) 20% (10) 18% (15) 29% (16) 27% (17) 34% (21) 32% (15) 

Stockport, 

Tameside 

and Trafford 

18% (10) 27% (17) 31% (25) 42% (21) 29% (14) 47% (27) 38% (15) 

Source: GM CDOPs 2016/17 

 

 

Page 31



18 

Modifiable factors identified by the CDOPs included (in order of frequency):  

 Smoking 

 Obesity 

 Access to appropriate healthcare 

 Substance misuse 

 Unsafe sleeping 

 Safeguarding 

 Housing issues / home environment 

 Gestational diabetes 

 Domestic abuse 

 Mental health 

 Consanguinity 

 

6.9 Neonatal and infant deaths 

6.9.1 Infant Mortality Rates 

Infant mortality rates are published by the Office for National Statistics, and are available publicly 

on the Public Health England Fingertips website7. These are crude rates, per 1,000 live births, so 

are likely influenced by population and demographic differences. Due to the small numbers 

involved, the figures for three years are combined into one. Chart 3 (overleaf) demonstrates the 

infant mortality rate in each Greater Manchester borough from 2015-2017.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           

7 https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-
profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133228/pat/126/par/E47000001/ati/102/are/E08000008/iid/92196/age/2/sex/4 

Page 32

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133228/pat/126/par/E47000001/ati/102/are/E08000008/iid/92196/age/2/sex/4
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-profiles/data#page/3/gid/1938133228/pat/126/par/E47000001/ati/102/are/E08000008/iid/92196/age/2/sex/4


19 

Chart 3: Infant mortality rate, per 1000 live births, by local authority, 2015-2017 (Source: 

Fingertips) 

 

 

6.9.2 Overview of CDOP deaths by age 

Across GM in 2018/19, 42% of all closed cases were neonates (under 28 days old) and 61% of all 

closed cases were infants (under 12 months old). This is similar to 2017/18 when the figures were 

36% and 62% respectively.  In previous years there has only been a small amount of variation in 

figures reported in the different age groups. The number of deaths is generally expected to reduce 

as age increases, and in GM the large majority of deaths were seen in the neonatal and infant 

categories with small numbers for all other ages. 

 

6.9.3 Neonatal and Infant Categorisation of Death (0 – 364 days of life) 

 

There were a total of 123 cases in this age category with around three quarters occurring in the first 

28 days of life.  The most common causes of death in the neonatal age group were 

Perinatal/neonatal event followed by Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies and then 

Infection with 60, 14 and 6 cases respectively.  There is however a different pattern of deaths 

between the two age bands.  Unsurprisingly, perinatal/neonatal events was a far more common 

cause of death in neonates than older infants, with only 5 cases recorded over the age of 28 days.  

Sudden unexpected, unexplained deaths on the other hand were rare in neonates (<5 cases) but 

the most common cause of death in babies aged 28-364 days (15 cases).  

Overall, congenital anomalies are the second most common cause of death for infants under 1 year 

old across GM, this reflects the situation for England as a whole.  Nationally, congenital anomalies 

contribute approximately one third of the extra infant deaths experienced by lower socio-economic 

groups compared with the population as a whole, which is a clear health inequality8. 

                                                           

8 National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit. The contribution of congenital anomalies to infant mortality . Oxford : 

University of Oxford, 2010. Inequaliites in Infant Mortality Project Briefing Paper 4. 

Page 33



20 

6.9.3 Gestation 

Rates of infant mortality are higher in babies born prematurely compared to those born at term.  In 

the majority of cases the excess deaths occur in the neonatal period, however, improvements in 

medical care mean that more premature babies are surviving the neonatal period.  This has the 

effect of increasing the number of cases where prematurity is the cause of death recorded in infants 

up to 1 year old. 

 

The categories of premature birth are: 

 Extremely Premature (<26 weeks) 

 Premature (26 weeks to <37 weeks) 

 Full Term (37+ weeks) 

Of the 85 neonatal deaths across GM, 59% (50) were in the extremely premature category with 21% 

(18) premature and 20% (17) at full term.  This is unsurprising as gestational age has a significant 

effect on a neonate’s chance of survival outside the womb and a foetus is not considered viable until 

after 24 weeks. (Please note, the numbers are not reported at local authority level as they are 

sufficiently low to be potentially identifiable.) 

 

6.9.4 Low birth weight 

 

*Please note that this section refers only to cases closed that occurred when the child was less than 1 year old 

 

Low birth weight (LBW) is recognised risk factor for infant mortality9. There are a number of risk 

factors for LBW including multiple births, smoking and maternal age, as well as gestation at delivery.  

Of the infant deaths closed across GM in 2018/19 50% had a birth weight of less than 1500 grams, 

which is a slightly higher proportion than 2017/18 (47%). However, the data for this year is less 

complete than last year with no birth weight recorded in 2% of cases.   

For the 161 deaths in the under 1 year age group, 69% had a birth weight of less than 2500 grams, 

which is higher than 2017/18 (63%). 

 

Table 9: Birth weight categories (%)  

 <1500g 1500g-2499g 2500g-3999g 4000g+ 
Not 

Stated 

Greater Manchester 50% 19% 26% 3% 2% 

 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 

 

                                                           

9 ONS (2015) Statistical bulletin: Childhood mortality in England and Wales: 2015. 

Page 34



21 

6.10 Socio Demographic Characteristics 

6.10.1 Age and Gender 

The distribution of male and female child deaths is in line with recent years, with 60% of closed case 

deaths occurring in males (122) and 40% in females (82).  

The difference in proportion of male and female deaths is most apparent in the 1-4, 10-14 and 15-

17 age groups (see Chart 7). This differs to last year’s data, when the gender difference was more 

pronounced in those aged under 1. Given the small numbers involved, it is possible that this change 

is due to random variation rather than a changing trend. Continuing to monitor the gender data going 

forward will be the only way to establish if this year is an anomaly in the longer term trend.  

In the 15-17 age group in 2018/19, 38% of deaths in males were categorised as due to suicide or 

deliberate self-harm, compared to 17% for females in this age group. This is in line with national 

gender differences in suicide in the UK10.  

Looking at the gender data across local authorities, this pattern continues, as nine areas have more 

male deaths than female. However, the numbers involved are small. 

 

Chart 4: Cases Closed by Age and Gender 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 

 

 

 

                                                           

10 https://www.samaritans.org/about-samaritans/research-policy/suicide-facts-and-figures/ 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

neonate 28-364 days 1-4 years 5-9 years 10-14 years 15-17 years

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

Cases closed by age and gender. Female = yellow, male = purple

Page 35



22 

 

Table 10: Number of cases closed by gender 
by Local Authority 2018/19 

LA Males Females 

Bolton 19 14 

Bury * * 

Manchester 26 21 

Oldham 8 6 

Rochdale 18 9 

Salford 10 6 

Stockport 10 7 

Tameside * * 

Trafford 6 7 

Wigan * * 

Greater Manchester 122 82 

6.10.2 Ethnicity 

Large inequalities in infant mortality rates exist between White and ethnic minority groups in England 

and Wales11. 

 Caribbean and Pakistani babies are more than twice as likely to die before the age of 

one as white British or Bangladeshi babies, in part due to a higher prevalence of 

preterm birth and congenital anomalies, respectively, in these particular groups. 

 There is considerable heterogeneity between different ethnic groups in both the causes 

and the risk factors for infant mortality. 

 Explanations for variations in infant mortality between ethnic groups are complex, 

involving the interplay of deprivation, physiological, behavioural and cultural factors. 

 More research is needed in order to identify the pathways that lead to higher risks of 

infant death among black and other ethnic minority groups. 

 

Nationally, reviews of deaths of children from a white background account for around two thirds of 

cases12, which is higher than the proportion across GM in 2018/19, with 57% of in-year closed cases 

being from a white background.  Ethnicity estimates have been calculated by applying total ONS 

mid-year population estimates for the <18 year old population to the ethnicity rate at the 2011 census 

for each area. As the estimate is specific to a particular year, the best measure of rates by ethnicity 

is looking at closed cases where notification was in the same year. This data is displayed in table 11 

                                                           

11 Gray, R., Headley, J., Oakley, L., Kurinczuk, J. J., Brocklehurst, P. & Hollowell, J. (2009) Inequalities in infant 
mortality project briefing paper 3. Towards an understanding of variations in infant mortality rates between different 
ethnic groups. Oxford: National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit. 
12 Department of Education. Child Death Reviews – Year ending March 2017. London : s.n., 2017 

Page 36



23 

below, along with the rates per 10,000 to account for varying population sizes. Please note, any 

potentially small numbers in a local authority area of between 1 and 5 have been labelled with an 

asterisk (*), to reduce any risk of identification.  

This data indicates that 57% of in-year closed cases in 2018/19 were white (similar to previous years) 

and 43% were from BME populations. The data was reasonably complete, with five cases having no 

recorded ethnicity data.  The proportion of BME cases is slightly higher than the national picture and 

indicates a substantial over-representation of BME populations in GM as BME groups make up only 

25% of the under 18 year old population.  Whilst differences in deprivation could account for some 

of this effect it is also possible that there are separate inequalities related to race such as additional 

barriers for BME women accessing antenatal care13. 

The inequality varies from area to area, so in Oldham, Trafford, Bolton and Rochdale, the child death 

rate was much higher amongst populations other than white British for 2018/19.  However, this is 

not consistent year on year. Due to the small numbers involved, even small variations due to chance 

can make the figures look very different from one year to the next. 

 

Table 11 : Cases closed by Ethnicity where date of notification occurred in 
year 2018/19 

Local Authority 
White BME 

Number rate/10,000 Number rate/10,000 

Bolton 11 2.35 21 1.37 

Bury * * * * 

Manchester 23 4.19 24 3.34 

Oldham * * * * 

Rochdale 10 2.78 15 9.24 

Salford 16 3.65 0 0.00 

Stockport * * * * 

Tameside * * * * 

Trafford * * * * 

Wigan 15 2.30 0 0.00 

Greater Manchester 113 2.50 86 4.77 

 

*Please note there were 5 cases where ethnicity was not recorded 

** The total number of deaths used in this table for GM was 199, excluding the 5 not recorded 

 

                                                           

13 Hollowell. J, Oakley. L, Vigurs. C, Barnett-Page. E, Kavanagh. J & Oliver S. (2012) Increasing the early initiation of 
antenatal care by Black and Minority Ethnic women in the UK. Oxford: National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit.  

Page 37



24 

6.10.3 Deprivation 

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is a widely used, area-based score that combines a number 

of markers to give an overall measure of deprivation. IMD across GM has been previously discussed 

in section 5.2. In Greater Manchester, 37% of the 0 to 18 population live in the most deprived quintile 

(quintile 1); in 2018/19, 63% of the child deaths in GM were from this quintile. This is similar to 

2017/18, where 61% of child deaths were from this quintile. There is a consistent trend over recent 

years of higher rates of child deaths in the most deprived groups.  Chart 5 shows the number of 

closed cases by deprivation quintile, demonstrating a much higher risk for those in the most deprived 

two quintiles. 

Chart 5: Number of cases closed by deprivation quintile 2018/19 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 & IMD 2015 

 

Chart 6 below shows the average IMD score for each local authority and the number of closed cases. 

There is some variation but, generally, local authorities with higher (more deprived) IMD scores have 

higher numbers of closed cases.  As this data is not adjusted for the different population sizes of 

these areas it can only show a potential correlation between deprivation and child mortality. 

Chart 6: Proportion of closed cases 2018/19 and deprivation quintile by Local Authority 

Source: GM CDOPs 2018/19 and IMD 2015 

 

0

35

70

105

140

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
lo

s
e
d
 c

a
s
e
s

Deprivation quintile

Page 38



25 

6.11 Smoking status of the mother 

Whilst smoking is always hazardous to health, it is associated with worse outcomes in pregnancy 

for mother and child.  These were described by the Royal College of Physicians14 as an increased 

risk of complications in labour, as well as an increased risk of miscarriage, still birth, low birth-weight 

and sudden unexpected death in infancy. Maternal smoking is also estimated to increase infant 

mortality by approximately 40%15. 

Public Health England (PHE) uses smoking at time of delivery (SATOD) as a national measure to 

record rates of smoking in pregnancy.  The most up to date figures available for this measure are 

from 2017/18 16  and show an average SATOD for England of 10.8% and 12.6% for Greater 

Manchester. The figures for GM show that 7 out of 10 local authorities are above the England 

average.  This shows that smoking in pregnancy is a considerable problem for GM.  Two of the areas 

in GM under the national average were the least deprived local authorities, Trafford and Stockport, 

which recorded rates of 6.7% and 10% respectively.  This reflects that tobacco use is strongly linked 

to deprivation and constitutes another health inequality. However Manchester also had a rate of 

10.7, which was just under the England average.  

For 2018/19 smoking was deemed to be relevant in 23 closed cases for infants under the age of one 

year.  This appears to be a decrease from 38 in 2017/18. The proportion of cases in which smoking 

was a factor ranges from 0-50% across the ten local authorities, demonstrating huge inter-borough 

variation, but the absolute numbers are small only ranging from 0-6.  

 

6.12 Raised Body Mass Index 

Maternal obesity is known to be associated with worse pregnancy outcomes and higher rates of 

stillbirth17.  Maternal obesity is also strongly associated with socioeconomic deprivation, so mothers 

in more deprived groups are more at risk of these negative outcomes. Since 2015/16 data on 

maternal BMI has been collected for all cases where the child was aged less than 1 year old, and it 

was agreed that a BMI of over 30 should be considered as a modifiable factor in cases categorised 

as perinatal / neonatal deaths. 

In 2018/19 there were 19 cases where maternal obesity was identified as a modifiable factor, this 

was second only to smoking (24) as a leading modifiable factor in GM. This is a decrease from 

2017/18 where obesity was identified as a modifiable factor in 39 cases, but similar to the data in 

2016/17. Given that there are rising rates of obesity nationally and across GM, it is important that 

this data continues to be gathered in future years so that the trend can be monitored. As with 

maternal smoking data, CDOPs should promote data collection requirements among front line 

professionals to try and capture as much health-related data as possible. 

 

                                                           

14 J R Coll Physicians Lond. 1992 Oct;26(4):352-6. Smoking and the young 
15 NICE Guidance PH26 (2010) Smoking: stopping in pregnancy and after childbirth. 
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph26/chapter/2-public-health-need-and-practice 
16 http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/smoking 
17 Maternal obesity in the UK: findings from a national project (2010) UK. Centre for Maternal and Child Enquiries  

Page 39



26 

6.13 Other factors 

6.13.1 Consanguinity 

From 2015/16 it was agreed that to standardize recording between different CDOPs, consanguinity 

would be considered as a modifiable factor if a second child was born with genetic anomalies to 

consanguineous parents.  In 2018/19, consanguinity was recorded as a modifiable factor in a small 

number of cases (<5), which was a decrease from last year (3%) and a decrease from 2017/18 (4%).  

This is a sensitive and complex topic because some cultures have higher rates of marriage amongst 

relatives than others.  It can be argued that different cultural attitudes to screening and termination 

of pregnancy may affect the rates of congenital anomalies18,19, however given that not all of the 

conditions that the NHS screens for are fatal conditions (e.g. Down syndrome) this is unlikely to 

provide a full explanation of the difference.  Some groups, such as women who are born outside of 

the UK, may experience additional barriers to accessing antenatal care and education and so may 

miss out on measures such as folic acid supplementation which can reduce the risk of some defects. 

Parents from all social groups require genetic counselling services to be widely available for couples 

with a family history or past history of pregnancy affected by congenital anomalies20 so that they 

have the information and support they need to plan their families.   

 

6.13.2 Parental Alcohol/Drug Use  

Alcohol and/or drug use by parents was identified as a potentially modifiable factor in just under 5% 

of cases (10) which is the same as last year (13). Although not always a direct risk factor, parental 

drug or alcohol use is associated (although not proven to be causal) with higher rates of sudden 

unexplained deaths in childhood and co-sleeping.  

 

6.13.3 Co-sleeping 

Co-sleeping was identified as a potentially modifiable factor in just under 4% of closed cases (8) 

across GM in 2018/19.  This is a similar proportion of cases to last year (4%) however, co-sleeping 

persistently appears as a key modifiable factor in the years since this report began even if the 

numbers are small.  This suggests that more parental education around safe sleeping for babies 

would be helpful to ensure that the key messages are understood and acted upon. 

 

6.13.4 Domestic Violence 

In GM, domestic violence and abuse was deemed a relevant modifiable risk factor in a small number 

of closed cases (<5) for 2018/19. This is similar to previous years.  However, it is difficult to draw 

conclusions around trends with such small numbers.  

                                                           

18 Hawkins, A., Stenzel, A., Taylor, J., Chock, V. & Hudgins, L. (2012) Variables Influencing Pregnancy Termination 
Following Prenatal Diagnosis of Fetal Chromosome Abnormalities. Journal of Genetic Counselling. 22(2) pp. 238-248 
19 Gil, M., Giunta, G., Macalli, E., Poon, L. & Nicolaides, K. (2015) UK NHS pilot study on cell-free DNA testing in 
screening for fetal trisomies: factors affecting uptake. Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 45(1) pp. 67-73. DOI: 
10.1002/uog.14683 
20 National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit. The contribution of congenital anomalies to infant mortality . Oxford : 

University of Oxford, 2010. Inequaliites in Infant Mortality Project Briefing Paper 4. 

Page 40



27 

 

6.13.5 Access to Appropriate Healthcare 

Access to appropriate healthcare includes a wide range of factors relating to the mother or child 

receiving appropriate medical and maternity care. This can include factors such as parents being 

unable or unwilling to seek medical help when advised, as well as failings within the system such as 

medical errors or factors around service provision. Access to appropriate healthcare was identified 

as a modifiable factor in 5% of cases (11) for 2018/19, which was similar to the numbers in 2017/18 

(14).  

 

 

7.0 Discussion and Conclusions 

This report focuses on the cases reviewed and closed by CDOPs during 2018/19. The number of 

cases notified in 2018/19 is referred to but full details are only available to analyse for cases that 

have been closed.  As the overall number of child deaths for GM is small compared to the size of 

population (204 closed cases for the whole of GM), all of the analysis has to be treated with some 

caution as variation between areas or over time may be due to chance. 

Whilst the absolute numbers are small, each child’s death represents many years of potential life 

lost and a huge loss to the family and community involved.  There is a need to ensure that all those 

affected have access to timely and appropriate support services, including specific provision for 

bereaved children. 

Both the number of closed cases and the number of notified cases have decreased slightly in 

2018/19 compared to those from the year before. There is not a clear trend in the number of child 

deaths across GM over the last few years as the small variations seen from year to year can be 

explained by chance. 

The large majority of child deaths in GM occurred in the first year of life; 42% of closed cases 

occurred in the first 28 days and 60% in the first 12 months.  This is a decrease on last year, when 

deaths in infants aged under 1 year accounted for 65% of closed cases, but the main causes of 

these deaths remain the same.  Most were due to events around the time of birth, perinatal or 

neonatal events, with the next most common issue being genetic or congenital conditions, which 

would have been present from before birth. 

The older age groups: 1-4, 5-9, 10-14 and 15-17 account for 11%, 8%, 10% and 11% of deaths 

respectively, which does indicate a slightly wider spread of deaths throughout the age groups than 

in previous years, but the absolute numbers are too small to draw conclusions.  From all the closed 

cases in 2018/19, most deaths (79%) were classed as ‘medical’ causes, i.e. acute medical, 

chromosomal, chronic medical, malignancy, perinatal / neonatal event or infection.  Across GM 82% 

of neonatal deaths were expected, falling to 45% of infants aged 28-364 days. However, in children 

aged 10-14 years, only a small number of deaths were expected which reflects a greater number of 

deaths from unexpected causes, such as health-related causes of death and trauma in this age 

group. Overall, 79% of closed cases were attributed to medical causes.  The high proportion of 

deaths relating to the child’s health mean that the provision of high quality maternity and paediatric 

care across all the local authorities is essential and work needs to ensure services work together.  

Access to appropriate healthcare was listed as a modifiable factor in 11 of the closed cases from 

2018/19 but this figure was higher in 2017/18 and should be considered, as deprived or vulnerable 

groups are likely to face greater barriers to accessing care. 

Page 41



28 

The proportion of cases where potentially modifiable factors were identified has continued to remain 

above the national average, at 39% in Greater Manchester.  Whilst potentially modifiable factors are 

not often directly causal, they reflect factors in the child’s situation that make poorer health outcomes 

more likely and reducing potentially modifiable factors, such as parental smoking, for the population 

as a whole would be likely to reduce child mortality.  This is why it is important to identify the factors 

associated with higher rates of childhood deaths, to try and reduce their prevalence in the population.   

 

8.0 Recommendations 
 

The following should be considered by each CDOP panel and the Public Health lead for 

children’s health. A coordinated GM response is recommended: 

1. This report means that there are now seven sets of data and analysis which are available to 

review and combine into an aggregate report.  This should help to identify trends, and having 

larger numbers to work with should reduce the impact of random error in the data.  This will 

be a large piece of work and will need greater resources than for the stand alone annual 

report, but it should be possible to identify a group of public health registrars to carry out this 

work. 

2. Health inequalities in the distribution of child deaths remain a concern.  The BME population 

remains at increased risk of childhood mortality and the proportion of deaths in the most 

deprived groups is consistently high.   Although data is now being collected for more BME 

subgroups by CDOP panels, meaningful analysis may take several years as the small 

numbers involved would mean that aggregate will be required. However, further analysis on 

these subgroups should be conducted as it may help to identify further patterns and areas 

for intervention.  

3. A higher proportion of deaths occurred in males (60%) compared to females (40%). Although 

the age at which this disparity was most apparent has changed since 2017/18, possibly due 

to the small numbers of cases involved, this may require further investigation. Suicide 

prevention, especially in males age 15-17, should be a public health and CDOP priority.                                               

4. As in previous years, smoking remains a key modifiable factor for child deaths across GM, 

with the proportion of cases where smoking is identified as a relevant factor higher than the 

rate of smoking in pregnancy. This has been recognised in the Greater Manchester 

Population Health Plan which is putting in place a GM evidence-based approach to reducing 

smoking, particularly in pregnancy. CDOP data and action plans should be linked to this and 

allow an opportunity to review the impact of smoking on deaths through the in depth CDOP 

review process. Work to reduce smoking prevalence across Greater Manchester should 

continue. 

 

5. GM CDOPs should consider any emerging evidence from other areas and from international 

research to identify any risk factors which have not received the focus that others have, 

including areas for future data collection and analysis. In particular, it may be worthwhile 

recording the relevance (1,2,3) for factors which are not (yet) on the national data analysis 

proforma but which CDOPs currently record, such as physical health or learning disability. 

 

Page 42



29 

The above recommendations should be followed up at the next GM CDOP panel meeting 

and CDOP panels and public health leads should continue to conduct reviews and monitor 

the number of child death notifications.

Page 43



  

Appendix 1: Summary of Gender, Ethnicity and Deprivation Data for 2018/19 

 

Characteristic 
Number of child deaths 
for Greater Manchester 

2018/19 

Greater Manchester <18 year 
old Population (%) 

Sex l l 

   Male 122 (60%) 51% 

   Female 82 (40%) 49% 

   Undetermined   0 (0%)   

Ethnicity l   

   Asian/Asian 
British 

52 (25%) White (72%) 

   Black/Black 
British 

17 (8%) BME (29%) 

   White British 109 (53%)   

   Other/mixed 22 (10%)   

   No data   <5 (<5%)   

Deprivation l 

Approximately 20% of the GM 
population live in the most 

deprived 10% quintiles 

1 (most deprived) 124 (62%) 

2 40 (20%) 

3 16 (8%) 

4 9 (4%) 

5 (least deprived) 12 (6%) 

No data  <5 (<5%) 

Page 44



  

Appendix 2: Population and number of cases closed by CDOP panel (2012/2013 - 2018/19) 

 

Area 
0-17 

populatio
n 2016 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2012/13 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2013/14 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2014/15 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2015/16 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2016/17 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2017/18 

Number of 
cases 

closed in 
2018/19 

Manchester CDOP 119,825 56 49 61 56 64 62 47 

Bury, Oldham & Rochdale  CDOP 153,144 72 57 81 74 48 71 53 

Bury 42,879 20 13 17 17 11 14 12 

Oldham 58,802 25 20 28 28 24 31 14 

Rochdale 51,463 27 24 36 29 13 26 27 

Bolton, Salford & Wigan CDOP 189,634 88 48 66 56 68 83 64 

Bolton 66,918 43 17 20 12 23 23 33 

Salford 54,881 27 12 19 23 21 27 16 

Wigan 67,835 18 19 27 21 24 33 15 

Stockport, Tameside & Trafford 166,675 52 62 54 50 48 58 40 

Stockport 62,372 18 18 14 20 21 24 17 

Tameside 49,349 16 15 25 14 16 16 10 

Trafford 54,954 18 29 15 16 11 18 13 

Greater Manchester 629,278 268 216 262 236 228 274 204 

P
age 45



  

 

P
age 46



1

Report to Strategic Place Board

Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

February 2020
Public Health and Wellbeing
Andrea Fallon
Public

Title of the report: Locality Plan 2020-2024

Date: February 2020

Author: Andrea Fallon

Agenda Item Locality Plan Refresh

Executive Summary

Report purpose Decision Discussion Information

Report summary The final version of the Locality Plan is attached

Key actions for the 
Board to address

Note the final version of the Locality Plan refresh and next steps

Engagement taken 
place

Engagement with comms, staff, ORHC, Leadership, members and key 
partners e.g. Action Together

Assurance and 
tracking process

Through the master plan and PDU

1.0 Introduction/ Background

All Greater Manchester boroughs were were asked to refresh their locality plance in response to the 
implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan and the Public Service Reform mandate to:

 Reaffirm the outcomes 
 Describe progress since the first locality plan 
 Outline plans for integrated neighbourhood delivery, Primary Care Networks and place-based 

commissioning
 Demonstrate congruence with the NHS Long Term Plan 
 Comply with the Mental Health Investment Standard
 Identify how relevant engagement has informed planning

2.0Progress to date
The final version of the Locality Plan refresh is attached and has been submitted to GMHSCP.

3.0Recommendations

 To note the final version of the Locality Plan refresh and the next steps



Page 47

Agenda Item 10



2

4.0 Next Steps
 Rochdale’s master plan is being developed to support the delivery of the Locality Plan, it will 

include; 
o the development of a strategic commissioning function (SCF) and the LCO
o sustainable delivery 
o the provision of supporting enabling functions

 The master plan will provide a governance road map for the delivery of the Locality Plan’s key 
priorities

 Produce a simplified public version of the Locality Plan in partnership with Action Together.

5.0Finacial/ Legal implications

N/A

Page 48


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Terms of Reference
	7 Greater Manchester Child Deaths Overview Report 2018/19
	CDOP GM Annual Report 2018-19 Final (Public)

	10 Locality Plan 2020 - 2024

